IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

THE ORIGINAL ROOFING COMPANY, LLC,

Appellant,

Case No.:

74048

Electronically Filed Dec 22 2017 08:47 a.m.

Elizabeth A. Brown

Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER OF THE OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH ADMINISTRATION, **DIVISION OF INDUSTRIAL** RELATIONS OF THE DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY. STATE OF NEVADA.

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, the Honorable Jim Crockett Presiding

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Marquis Aurbach Coffing

Micah S. Echols, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 8437

Adele V. Karoum, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 11172

10001 Park Run Drive

Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a District Court order granting a petition for judicial 2 Appellant's Appendix ("AA") 355-360. Appellant, the Original Roofing Company, LLC ("Original Roofing"), prevailed before the Nevada Occupational Safety and Health Review Board ("Review Board") against Respondent, the Chief Administrative Officer of the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, Division of Industrial Relations of the Department of Business and Industry, State of Nevada ("OSHA"), and now seeks reinstatement of the Review Board's favorable decision. 1 AA 124–132. "A final judgment entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered" constitutes an appealable order. NRAP 3A(b)(1). NRS 233B.150 specifically allows final judgments from the district courts in judicial review matters to be appealed to the Nevada appellate courts "An order granting or denying a petition for judicial review . . . is an appealable final judgment if it fully and finally resolves the matters as between all parties." Vill. League to Save Incline Assets, Inc. v. State, 388 P.3d 218, 223 (Nev. 2017) (citing Jacinto v. PennyMac Corp., 129 Nev. 300, 303, 300 P.3d 724, 726 (2013)). Original Roofing timely appealed from the District Court's final judgment. 2 AA 355–367. Therefore, appellate jurisdiction is properly before this Court.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals according to NRAP 17(b)(10), as an administrative agency appeal not involving tax, water, or public utilities commission determinations. However, Original Roofing requests that this case be retained by the Supreme Court according to NRAP 17(a)(10) and (11). Orders from the Review Board are not published or available to the public; thus, there is a lack of information available to Nevada employers regarding the implementation and enforcement of OSHA standards. *See* Stephen C. Yohay, *Decisions and Orders of the Nevada Occupational Safety and Health Review Board: Time to Lift the Veil of Secrecy*, 16 NEV. L. J. 1145 (July 22, 2016).

This appeal involves significant issues of first impression on the employer knowledge element required for a showing of a violation of occupational and health standards under Nevada law. In particular, this appeal asks the Court to interpret NRS 618.625¹ and the related provisions in this statutory scheme,

¹ NRS 618.625 Assessment, payment and recovery of administrative fines; "serious violation" defined.

^{1.} The Division may assess administrative fines provided for in this chapter, giving due consideration to the appropriateness of the penalty with respect to the size of the employer, the gravity of the violation, the good faith of the employer and the history of previous violations.

^{2.} For purposes of this chapter, a serious violation exists in a place of employment if there is a substantial probability that death or serious physical harm could result from a condition which exists, or from one or more practices, means, Page 2 of 42

consistent with the Review Board's interpretation. Specifically, this appeal examines the question of when a supervisor, who is also an employee, violates established, communicated, and enforced company safety policies, whether this supervisor's knowledge of his own violation is imputed to his employer.

This appeal also examines to what degree a prior OSHA violation serves to establish "foreseeability" of a violation after a significant amount of time has passed, and when safety programs have been revised and implemented between the prior violation and the violation at issue. The recent case *Terra Contracting Inc. v. Chief Administrative Officer of the Occupational Safety and Health Admin.*, 2016 WL 197128, No. 67270 (Nev. 2016) is unpublished but examined similar issues of supervisors and imputed employer knowledge. But, Nevada does not have published case law on these issues, which are of significant importance to employers in Nevada and the general public. *See* NRS 618.015(2) ("The Legislature finds that such safety and health in employment is a matter greatly

methods, operations or processes which have been adopted or are in use in that place of employment <u>unless the employer did not and could not, with the exercise of reasonable diligence, know of the presence of the violation</u>.

3. Administrative fines owed under this chapter must be paid to the Division. The fines may be recovered in a civil action in the name of the Division brought in a court of competent jurisdiction in the county where the violation is alleged to have occurred or where the employer has his or her principal office. (emphasis added).

affecting the public interest of this State."). Therefore, Original Roofing requests that the Supreme Court retain this appeal.

III. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD REINSTATE THE REVIEW BOARD'S FAVORABLE DECISION BASED ON THE FINDING THAT OSHA FAILED TO PRESENT A PRIMA FACIE CASE TO SUPPORT ITS CITATION ON THE ELEMENT OF EMPLOYER KNOWLEDGE.
- B. WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD, ALTERNATIVELY, REINSTATE THE REVIEW BOARD'S FAVORABLE DECISION BASED ON ORIGINAL ROOFING'S ESTABLISHED DEFENSE OF EMPLOYEE MISCONDUCT.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case in which the Review Board properly found that OSHA's citation against Original Roofing failed both as a matter of fact and law. 1 AA 124–132. Although the District Court granted OSHA's petition for judicial review (2 AA 355–360), this Court looks directly to the agency decision without any deference to the District Court's decision. *See Kay v. Nunez*, 122 Nev. 1100, 1105, 146 P.3d 801, 805 (2006). Original Roofing now asks this Court to reinstate the Review Board's favorable decision.

In July 2015, Nevada Compliance Safety and Health Officer ("CSHO")
Aldo Lizarraga ("Lizarraga") conducted an inspection at the Canyon Ridge
Apartments. 2 AA 150, 170. He witnessed employees of Original Roofing,
Foreman Jose Cortez and Silverio Betancourt, performing roofing activities on a
Page 4 of 42

steep roof without fall protection. 2 AA 170–171. These employees had been trained and instructed on fall protection, were provided with personal fall protection equipment, and were aware of Original Roofing's strict policies on fall protection, which included retraining, financial penalties for violations, and potential termination. *See generally* 2 AA 254–290. These employees, nonetheless, elected to not use fall protection, despite Original Roofing's strict safety standards and safety program designed to ensure compliance with Occupational Safety and Health Administration standards. After his inspection, Lizarraga issued a proposed citation for the employees performing roofing activities without adequate fall protection. 1 AA 126.

Original Roofing successfully appealed this proposed citation. The Review Board found, after a hearing and a review of the evidence, that OSHA failed to establish its prima facie case of a serious violation against Original Roofing because OSHA failed to establish the element of employer knowledge. 1 AA 119–120. OSHA relied upon theories of imputed knowledge based on (1) a supervisor being involved in the incident, and (2) a theory of constructive knowledge based on foreseeability because Original Roofing had a prior violation for failing to utilize fall protection equipment in 2013. 1 AA 111. The Review Board correctly found that OSHA failed to establish its prima facie case, and the evidence for employer knowledge, based on the presence of a supervisor and a prior 2013

violation, was insufficient. 1 AA 124–131. The Review Board also concluded that Original Roofing had provided safety rules, communicated its safety rules and program, and enforced its safety rules to establish the affirmative defense of unpreventable employee misconduct. *Id.* The Review Board found that there was no violation, and no penalty would be assessed against Original Roofing based on this July 2015 inspection. 1 AA 131.

OSHA filed a petition for judicial review in the District Court (1 AA 1–5), which the District Court granted, reversing the Review Board's decision (2 AA 355–360). The District Court second-guessed the Review Board and concluded that there was no substantial evidence to support the Review Board's decision. The District Court purported to reweigh the evidence and claimed that the Review Board was required to "cite" instead of refer to the evidence in the record. *Id.* The District Court then erroneously concluded that Original Roofing failed to prove its affirmative defense of unpreventable employee misconduct. *See id.*

Original Roofing's appeal now requests that this Court reverse the District Court's order granting OSHA's petition for judicial review by reinstating the Review Board's decision as properly based upon substantial evidence and sound legal reasoning. The Court's decision to reinstate the Review Board's decision can be based upon either the reasons articulated by the decision itself (1 AA 124–132) or any other reason supported by the record. *See Hotel Riviera, Inc. v. Torres*, 97

Nev. 399, 403, 632 P.2d 1155, 1158 (1981) ("If a decision below is correct, it will not be disturbed on appeal even though the lower court relied upon wrong reasons."). Upon these grounds, Original Roofing respectfully requests relief from this Court.

V. <u>STANDARDS OF REVIEW</u>

On appeal from an order deciding a petition for judicial review, this Court "reviews the administrative decision in the same manner as the district court." *Valenti v. State, Dep't of Motor Vehicles*, 362 P.3d 83, 85 (Nev. 2015) (citing *Nassiri v. Chiropractic Physicians' Bd.*, 327 P.3d 487, 489 (Nev. 2014); *see also Kay v. Nunez*, 122 Nev. 1100, 1105, 146 P.3d 801, 805 (2006) (affording "no deference to the district court's ruling in judicial review matters") (emphasis added).

On appeal, the administrative decision is reviewed for an abuse of discretion, giving deference to the administrative agency's factual findings that are supported by substantial evidence. *Taylor v. State, Dep't of Health & Human Servs.*, 314 P.3d 949, 951 (Nev. 2013). Substantial evidence is evidence that a reasonable person could accept as adequate to support a conclusion. *Century Steel, Inc. v. State, Div. of Indus. Relations, Occupational Safety and Health Section*, 122 Nev. 584, 590, 137 P.3d 1155, 1159 (2006). Legal questions are reviewed de novo. *Id.* But, an agency's conclusions of law, which are closely related to the agency's view

of the facts, are entitled to deference and will not be disturbed if they are supported by substantial evidence. *See Jones v. Rosner*, 102 Nev. 215, 217, 719 P.2d 805, 806 (1986). This legal standard regarding deference to an agency's conclusions of law is grounded upon the policy that an agency charged with the duty of administering an act is impliedly clothed with the power to construe the act as a necessary precedent to administrative action. *See Local Gov't Emp. v. General Sales*, 98 Nev. 94, 97, 641 P.2d 478, 480 (1982) (citing *Clark Cty. Sch. Dist. v. Local Gov't*, 90 Nev. 442, 446, 530 P.2d 114, 117 (1974)).

This Court will review evidence presented to the agency to determine whether the agency's decision was arbitrary or capricious and was, therefore, an abuse of discretion. *See Century Steel*, 122 Nev. at 590, 137 P.3d at 1159. However, the Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. *Id.* (citing *Nevada Serv. Employees Union v. Orr*, 119 P.3d 1259, 1261 (Nev. 2005)); NRS 233B.135(3).

VI. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. OSHA'S PROPOSED CITATION AGAINST ORIGINAL ROOFING.

On July 22, 2015, at approximately 8:45 a.m., CSHO Lizarraga conducted an inspection at the Canyon Ridge Apartments. 2 AA 150, 170. He witnessed employees of Original Roofing, Foreman Jose Cortez and Silverio Betancourt, performing roofing activities on a steep roof without fall protection. 2 AA 170–Page 8 of 42

171. The employee told Lizarraga that he knew he was required to be tied off at heights of greater than six feet. 2 AA 172–173. The employee also stated that he had received fall protection and training. 1 AA 173. Lizarraga alleged a violation of 29 CFR § 1926.501(b)(11), a regulation requiring fall protection for employees on steep roofs.² 2 AA 170.

Don Kelly, Original Roofing's Safety Manager, informed Lizarraga that the employees were scheduled to go over the inspection process and to be retrained on that same day at 3:00 p.m., but the employees did not attend the retraining and did not return to work the following day. 2 AA 170, 221. Valentin Perez, the Superintendent of Original Roofing, informed Don Kelly that both employees had quit after the OSHA inspection. 2 AA 150, 170–171, 221–222.

OSHA issued a proposed citation to Original Roofing on October 1, 2015. 2 AA 176–185. This proposed citation was classified as a "repeat-serious" violation because Original Roofing was previously cited for a violation of an equivalent standard, more than two years earlier. 2 AA 185. The date of the previous inspection and citation was June 17, 2013, involving an incident documented on March 25, 2013. *Id.*; 2 AA 218. No other previous OSHA

² 29 CFR § 1926.501(b)(11) states, "'Steep roofs.' Each employee on a steep roof with unprotected sides and edges 6 feet (1.8 m) or more above lower levels shall be protected from falling by guardrail systems with toeboards, safety net systems, or personal fall arrest systems."

inspection or citation was included in OSHA's proposed citation beyond the June 17, 2013 order. 2 AA 185.

B. THE REVIEW BOARD HEARING.

On March 9, 2016, the Review Board held a hearing on OSHA's proposed citation. 1 AA 124. In the administrative hearing, Lizarraga testified that when he interviewed the two Original Roofing employees on July 22, 2015, both Cortez and Betancourt informed him that they had received fall protection training from Original Roofing and were aware of company policies. 1 AA 47:20–48:5; 2 AA 173. Lizarraga testified, during cross examination:

- Q. Were they knowledgeable about fall protection, personal fall arrest systems?
- A. They both said that they needed a personal fall arrest system at heights greater than six feet.
- Q. Did they say anything about being trained, any training that they were...
- A. Yes, they both mentioned that they had fall protection training from you [Original Roofing].
- Q. Were they aware of company policy?
- A. Yes.

1 AA 47:30–48:5. Lizarraga testified that Cortez and Betancourt said that they knew they "needed a personal fall arrest system at heights greater than six feet" and that they had received fall protection training from Original Roofing. 1 AA 47:17–48:3, 50:8–9. Lizarraga testified that Cortez and Betancourt were aware of Page 10 of 42

company policies, but they said "it was easier to chalk the lines without a personal fall arrest system." 1 AA 48:4–11. Lizarraga testified that Cortez, the foreman, "had a choice" to tie off or not tie off, and he "chose not to tie off." 1 AA 48:15–19, 49:19–23.

Lizarraga also testified that he inspected the Canyon Ridge jobsite after July 22, 2015 and he believed he came across Original Roofing working at Canyon Ridge. 1 AA 47; 2 AA 176 (showing "inspection Date(s) as 7/22/2015–9/11/2015"). Lizarraga did not recall any fall protection or fall arrest issues the second time around. 1 AA 47:4–16.

C. THE EVIDENCE BEFORE THE REVIEW BOARD CONFIRMED ORIGINAL ROOFING'S ESTABLISHED SAFETY PROGRAM.

At the hearing before the Review Board, Original Roofing presented evidence of a safety training program, safety policies, and its adequate communication and enforcement of policies. 2 AA 254–290. OSHA and Original Roofing stipulated to the admission of four exhibits as documentary evidence for the OSHA hearing: Petitioner's Exhibits 1, 2, and 3; and Respondent's Exhibit A. 1 AA 124:23–24. Original Roofing also provided information from Don Kelly, the Safety Manager, regarding on-site inspections and how employees receive written violations and retraining if a violation is found on a jobsite audit. 1 AA 56–58 (referring to exhibits presented in the hearing at 2 AA 260–270); 2 AA 255. This

evidence included examples of internal written safety violation write-ups, which dated back to 2012, and employee retraining which included employee misconduct statements. *Id.*; 2 AA 263, 268–269.

Original Roofing provided evidence that OSHA had performed 48 on-site inspections involving Original Roofing in the year 2015, and the company passed 47 of the inspections without a violation. 2 AA 271. Additionally, Original Roofing demonstrated its dedication to ensuring safety in the workplace and compliance with OSHA violations, having spent \$171,513 in 2015 in safety related costs. 2 AA 256. This amount included \$62,818 invested in Personal Protective Equipment or PPE, and a nearly doubled amount in investment for safety manager salaries from 2013. *Id.* The evidence reflects a significant increase in safety expenditures between 2013 and 2015. *See id.*

The \$171,513 in safety-related costs also included Original Roofing having its own 1,650 square foot training facility located at 4515 Copper Sage Street, Suite 300, Las Vegas, Nevada, 89115. 2 AA 256–257. The training facility is used for new hire orientation, OSHA training classes, Miller/HD Supply Competent Person Fall Protection programs, crew training sessions, and specific topic training certifications. *Id.* The training facility includes a mock roof, and training is performed using this mock roof to provide instruction on how to anchor. 1 AA 59 (referring to 2 AA 270).

The evidence before the Review Board demonstrated that Cortez and Betancourt received training from Original Roofing regarding compliance with state and federal law and regulations. 1 AA 273, 282. Both Cortez and Betancourt also received orientation and new hire training in the following areas:

- 1. Safety in the work place, DBI/SALA Harness Donning;
- 2. The Original Roofing Company Fall Protection Plan;
- 3. Company Safety Rules;
- 4. Hazard Communication Program;
- 5. Hand/Power Tools Policy;
- 6. Accident Reporting Procedures;
- 7. Drug Testing Program;
- 8. Disciplinary Action Policy;
- 9. Weekend work Policy; and
- 10. Payroll Policies.
- 2 AA 276, 283. Both Original Roofing employees signed the safety equipment issued form and acknowledging receiving a brand new safety PFAs bucket by Guardian Fall Protection. 2 AA 274, 277.

Cortez and Betancourt signed and acknowledged Original Roofing's Fall Protection Agreement, which provides: "It is company policy that all employees working above 6 feet must be tied off NO EXCEPTIONS." 2 AA 278, 285.

Cortez and Betancourt also signed Original Roofing's Safety Violations & Longevity Bonus Policy. 2 AA 279, 286. This document provides:

- 1. Any individual who is singularly responsible for an O[SH]A citation, whether it results in a fine or not **is subject to immediate termination** and will forfeit any longevity bonus they may have qualified for.
- *Id.* (emphasis added). Original Roofing's Safety Violations & Longevity Bonus Policy provides enforcement by holding foremen, the foremen's immediate supervisor, and the safety manager responsible for employees they are in charge of by including the following provisions:
 - A) If that individual is a crew member working under a Foreman on the site in question, the Foreman will lose any longevity bonus earned for that year.
 - B) The Foreman's immediate Supervisor will lose 25% of any longevity bonus earned for that year.
 - C) The Safety manager and/or Safety supervisor will each lose 10% of any longevity bonuses earned for that year.
- 2 AA 279. This enforcement and bonus program not only related to OSHA citations but also penalized individuals receiving **informal** safety violations, including those that resulted in injury or "may have resulted in an injury (fall protection)." 2 AA 279, ¶3.

At the Review Board hearing, Original Roofing presented evidence of its site inspection procedures for enforcement of its safety policies. The procedures included site inspections by a Superintendent, Valentin Perez. 2 AA 150, 287. On

the day of the OSHA inspection, Valentin Perez was on schedule to walk the worksite at the Canyon Ridge Apartments after his 9:00 a.m. morning meeting at another job site. If Valentin Perez had performed that inspection and found the employees on the roof without fall protection, Perez was trained to bring the employees down from the roof, to question them, to confirm they have all equipment required to work safely, and to prepare a written company violation to schedule the employees for retraining. 2 AA 287. The OSHA visit and proposed citation occurred just prior to Perez's scheduled site inspection. *Id.*; 2 AA 150.

D. THE REVIEW BOARD'S FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND FINAL ORDER.

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