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

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court Order properly reversed the Review Board's Decision as the Review Board committed an error of law in reaching its Decision, which is also arbitrary, capricious, and characterized by abuse of discretion. The Review Board denied the existence of nearly 30 pages of evidence in order to conclude that Nevada OSHA had not established its prima facie case. In stark contrast, the Review Board found Original Roofing had met its burden to establish the affirmative defense of employee misconduct by "inferring" the required factors from documents generated *after* this 2015 inspection.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

A reviewing court shall not substitute its judgment for that of an agency in regards to the weight of the evidence on a question of fact, nor may it revisit any credibility determinations. NRS 233B.135(3); Law Offices of Barry Levinson, P.C.

v. Milko, 124 Nev. 355, 362, 184 P.3d 378, 383-84 (2008). The standard for such review is whether the agency's decision was clearly erroneous, arbitrary, capricious, or characterized by abuse of discretion. NRS 233B.135(3)(e) and (f); see Ranieri v. Catholic Community Services, 111 Nev. 1057, 1061, 901 P.2d 158, 161 (1995).

The court's review is confined to the record before the agency. <u>Law Offices</u> of Barry Levinson, 124 Nev. 355, 362. To be valid, the agency's decision must be supported by substantial evidence in the record. <u>McCracken v. Fancy</u>, 98 Nev. 30, 31, 639 P.2d 552, 553 (1982). "The agency's fact-based conclusions of law are entitled to deference, and will not be disturbed if they are supported by substantial evidence." <u>Law Offices of Barry Levinson</u>, 124 Nev. 355, 362 (internal quotes and citations omitted). Substantial evidence has been defined as that evidence "which a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." <u>Schepcoff v. SIIS</u>, 109 Nev. 322, 325, 849 P.2d 271, 273 (1993).

Questions of law are reviewed de novo. *See* SIIS v. United Exposition

Services Co., 109 Nev. 28, 30, 846 P.2d 294, 295 (1993). Statutory construction is a question of law which invites independent appellate review of the administrative decision. Maxwell v. SIIS, 109 Nev. 327, 329, 849 P.2d 267, 269 (1993).

However, the court must give deference to the agency's interpretation of statutes

that it administers. <u>Chevron U.S.A. Inc. v. NRDC</u>, 467 U.S. 837, 843, 104 S. Ct. 2778, 2782, 81 L. Ed. 2d 694, 703 (1984).

In the instant case, the principal issue is whether substantial evidence supports the Review Board's conclusion that employer knowledge could not be imputed because the Foreman himself was engaging in the violative conduct. The Review Board's Decision was based on an analysis of a Nevada Supreme Court unpublished opinion, Terra Contr., Inc. v. Chief Administrative Officer of the OSHA, No. 67270, 2016 Nev. Unpub. Lexis 41, WL 197128 (Nev. Jan. 14, 2016).

In its Opening Brief, Original Roofing speaks to the standard of review established in Century Steel, Inc. v. Div. of Indus. Rels., 122 Nev. 584, 137 P. 3d 1155 (2016). However Original Roofing fails to acknowledge that a reviewing court shall not substitute its judgment for that of an agency in regards to the weight of the evidence on a question of fact, nor may it revisit any credibility determinations. NRS 233B.135(3); Law Offices of Barry Levinson, P.C. v. Milko, 124 Nev. 355, 362, 184 P.3d 378, 383-84 (2008). The standard for such review is whether the agency's decision was clearly erroneous, arbitrary, capricious, or characterized by abuse of discretion. NRS 233B.135(3)(e) and (f); see Ranieri v. Catholic Community Services, 111 Nev. 1057, 1061, 901 P.2d 158, 161 (1995). Thus only the weight the Review Board attributed to the factual evidence submitted and any credibility determinations are not the subject of review in a higher court.

The Review Board made *no* credibility determinations in its April 19, 2016, Decision. Further, the weight the Review Board accorded to the evidence does not invalidate the complete misstatement of the evidence that was referenced in the Decision or Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Final Order, nor does it validate a Decision that is arbitrary and capricious, or characterized by an abuse of discretion.

The issue before this Court is whether the Review Board's Decision is based upon substantial evidence in the record and whether the Review Board's Decision is arbitrary and capricious, or characterized by an abuse of discretion. While Original Roofing argues that the Review Board's Decision is "based on testimonial and documentary evidence in the record", it fails to speak to several issues and disregarded evidence that Nevada OSHA raised and addressed. Each of these issues will be taken in turn below.

B. Discussion

1. Nevada OSHA Properly Met Its Burden to Establish a Prima Facie Case of an OSHA Violation.

Nevada Administrative Code 618.788 places the burden of proof on Nevada OSHA, in order to establish a citable violation occurred. Specifically, Nevada OSHA must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that: (i) the cited standard applied to the condition; (ii) the terms of the standard were violated; (iii) one or more employees had access to the cited condition; and (iv) the employer knew, or

with the exercise of reasonable diligence could have known, of the violative condition. *See also* Astra Pharmaceutical Prods., 9 BNA OSHC 2126, 1981 CCH OSHD P25, 578 (No. 78-6247, 1981); Am. Wrecking Corp. v. Sec'y of Labor, 351 F.3d. 1254, 1261 (2003).

The Decision and Findings of Fact both acknowledge that factors (i) through (iii), as outlined above, were met by Nevada OSHA. The last factor, employer knowledge, remains contested. 1 AA 112:20-25 and 1 AA 126:19-24.

Knowledge that a work condition or policy violates an OSHA standard is not required, only knowledge of the work condition or policy itself. See, e.g., Phoenix Roofing Inc., 17 BNA OSHC 1076, 1079 (No. 90-2148, 1995) (Employer knowledge is established by a showing of employer awareness of the physical conditions constituting the violation; it need not be shown that the employer understood or acknowledged that the physical conditions were actually hazardous), aff'd without published opinion, Phoenix Roofing v. Occupational, 79 F.3d 1146, U.S. App. Lexis 5107 (5th Cir. Tex. Feb. 16, 1996) (internal citations omitted). To be clear, a supervisor's knowledge of a hazardous condition is ordinarily properly imputable to the employer. Terra Contr., Inc. v. Chief Administrative Officer of the OSHA, No. 67270, 2016 Nev. Unpub. Lexis 41, *2-3 (Nev. Jan. 14, 2016); Dun-Par Engineered Form Co., 12 BNA OSHC 1962 (No. 82-928, 1986). Knowledge may also be established constructively by

showing that an employer could have known of the violative conditions if it had exercised reasonable diligence. *Id*.

As stated, constructive knowledge can be established by showing the employer could have known of the violative conditions if it had exercised reasonable diligence. While no Nevada court has done so, the Federal OSHA Review Commission has set forth criteria to be considered when evaluating "reasonable diligence":

Reasonable diligence involves several factors, including an employer's obligation to inspect the work area, to anticipate hazards to which employees may be exposed, and to take measures to prevent the occurrence. . . Other factors indicative of reasonable diligence include adequate supervision of employees, and the formulation and implementation of adequate training programs and work rules to ensure that work is safe.

<u>Pride Oil Well Service</u>, 15 BNA OSHC 1809, 1814 (No. 87-692, 1992) (internal quotes and citations omitted).

It was unrebutted that Nevada OSHA proved Original Roofing's supervisory foreman on site at the time of the inspection was working without fall protection, and that he supervised an employee who he knew was also working without fall protection. 1 AA 115: 5-7; 1 AA 126:1-5.

The Review Board acknowledged that, when a supervisor is aware of an employee's violation of a safety standard, imputation to the employer of constructive knowledge is generally proper. The Review Board goes further and states:

///

[I]f a supervisory employee is involved in self-misconduct or failures (sic) to enforce safety compliance, that too can be subject of imputation under established Review Commission, Federal District Court, and Nevada Law. Division of Occupational Safety and Health vs. Pabco Gypsum, 105 Nev. 371, 775 P. 2d 701 (1989). Terra Contracting, Inc. vs. Chief Administrative Officer of the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, et al., citing ComTran Grp., Inc. V. U.S. Dep't of Labor, 722 F. 3d 1304, 1316 (11 Cir. 2013).

1 AA 114:21 through 1 AA 114:1.

Further citing the unpublished <u>Terra Contracting</u> case, the Review Board clarified that, when the supervisor is himself involved in the violative behavior, employer knowledge turns on the issue of **foreseeability** by the employer that the supervisor would fail to adhere to, or enforce the safety standards.

Though the Decision correctly states that the <u>Terra Contracting</u> Court gave guidance on when this imputation is appropriate, the Review Board concluded that the submitted evidence did not support a finding of foreseeability.

In applying the facts in evidence to the rationale set forth by the Nevada Supreme Court in *Terra*, *supra*, there was insufficient competent preponderant evidence of foreseeability on the part of the ... employer upon which to base imputed employer knowledge of violation of the cited standard.

1 AA 115:14-18.

However, this broad statement ignores Original Roofing's *history* of foremen not following and/or enforcing fall protection standards. 2 AA 211- 239. Nevada OSHA provided documentary and testimonial support of two separate

inspections (Numbers 316841196 and 315998567, conducted in 2013 and 2011, respectively) which involve foremen and employees actively engaging in the same violative conduct at issue in the current inspection. 2 AA 218-219; 2 AA 221; 2 AA 238; 1 AA 39:16-19. Of note, even the fall protection citation issued as a result of the 2011 inspection was also classified as "repeat", due to two previous fall protection citations, in 2007 and 2008. 2 AA 237. While those two citations were outside of the five-year period for enhancing the current Citation, that information still speaks to Original Roofing's actual or constructive knowledge of its employees', and more specifically its foremen's, failure to abide with its safety policies. 2 AA 211-239.

Based on this history of its foremen failing to follow and enforce fall protection standards, Original Roofing through reasonable diligence should have been able to foresee violative conduct amongst its current foremen. Yet it did nothing to verify safety policies were being followed and enforced.

Additionally, the Foreman of the subject inspection only completed his new hire training on June 16, 2015, barely one month prior to this OSHA inspection.

2 AA 280. No information was provided by Original Roofing regarding the content of that new-hire training, the length of the training, who it was provided by, or where it was provided. Regardless, the Foreman of the subject inspection was still under a 90-day probationary period. 2 AA 281. Despite this, Original Roofing

again took no steps to ensure its *newly-hired* Foreman knew, and was following and enforcing, safety rules².

Although Nevada OSHA provided unrefuted documentary and testimonial support of Original Roofing's history of foremen involved in the fall protection violations, and the fact that the specific Foreman involved in this case was newly-hired, the Review Board conversely concluded that there was no foreseeability:

[T]here was insufficient competent preponderance evidence of foreseeability on the part of [Original Roofing] upon which to base imputed employer knowledge of violation of the cited standard. [Nevada OSHA] asserted in closing argument, but offered no evidence, that the employer had previously engaged foremen to supervise its jobs in the past who failed to enforce fall arrest safety requirements.

1 AA 115:15-21 (emphasis added); *accord* 1 AA 116:17-20; *see* 1 AA 129:5-11. Further, the Review Board states "There was no competent evidence, (sic) the employer had previously engaged foremen to supervise its jobs who failed to enforce fall arrest safety requirements." 1 AA 116:21-23; *see* 1 AA 128:8-10.

On its face, the Review Board negates the existence of the nearly 30 pages of Nevada OSHA's documentary support detailing Original Roofing's previous

² Despite Original Roofing's contention that the Superintendent was due to visit the worksite on the day of the Nevada OSHA inspection, there was no evidence submitted to support that. *See* Original Roofing's Opening Brief, pg. 37.

violations in which foremen were supervising, and engaged in, the violative conduct. *See* 2 AA 211-240. The violation Worksheet for each citation, in 2013 and 2011, even provide the specific names of the foremen involved in the violative conduct. 2 AA 218-219; 2 AA 238.

Original Roofing raised no argument to question or invalidate these prior, properly-issued Nevada OSHA citations, nor the respective 2013 and 2011 inspection documents. Original Roofing blatantly ignores the 2011 Citation, Inspection No. 315998567, issued to Original Roofing. Throughout its Opening Brief, Original Roofing only makes mention of the 2013 Citation, Inspection No. 316841196, as a basis for classifying the citation at issue as "Repeat Serious". Though this was the only citation used in the calculation of the penalty (adding a 2 times multiplier), this certainly was not the only citation used to impute employer knowledge. *See* 2AA 171.

Nevada OSHA provided 19 pages of documentary support of an additional substantially similar citation issued in 2011, Inspection No. 315998567, noting this 2011 Citation was also classified as a "Repeat Serious" due to two previous fall protection citations in 2007 and 2008. 2 AA 231-250. Most importantly, the 2011 Citation ignored by Original Roofing and the Review Board involved facts similar to the Citation at issue. Both the testimonial and documentary evidence submitted to the Review Board, regarding the 2011 Citation, provided that Original Roofing's

foremen and employees were *actively* engaging in the *same* violative conduct. 2 AA 218-219; 2 AA 221; 2 AA 238; 1 AA 39:16-19. **This evidence was** *undisputed. Id.* The 2011 Citation not only contributes in imputing employer knowledge, it further emphasizes foreseeability of violative conduct amongst Original Roofing's foremen.

This complete disregard of the 2011 Citation by Original Roofing in its

Opening Brief reflects the identical action by the Review Board which found there
was "no evidence [offered], that the employer had previously engaged foremen to
supervise its jobs in the past who failed to enforce fall arrest safety requirements."

1 AA 114:15:21; accord 1 AA 115:17-20; see 1 AA 128:5-7. Because this Review

Board finding/conclusion is blatantly against the unrefuted facts and evidence
submitted before it, its findings are not entitled to deference. Denying the existence
of the evidence that was submitted and undisputed, renders the Review

Board's Decision as arbitrary and capricious, and characterized by abuse of
discretion. NRS 233B.135(3)(e) and (f); see Raineri v. Catholic Community

Services, 111 Nev. 1057, 1061, 901 P.2d 158, 161 (1995).

An agency's fact-based conclusions of law that are supported by substantial evidence are entitled to deference. <u>Law Offices of Barry Levinson</u>, 124 Nev. at 362. Here, the Review Board finds, and then concludes as a matter of law, that Nevada OSHA "offered no evidence, that [Original Roofing] had previously engaged foremen to supervise its jobs in the past who failed to enforce fall arrest

safety requirements". 1 AA 114:15-21. There is no evidence in the record to support this fact-based conclusion of law. In fact, the only uncontested evidence that was submitted to the Review Board indicates that Original Roofing has had *multiple* such incidents wherein its foremen either failed to enforce or were actually in violation of fall arrest safety requirements. 2 AA 211-240. The Review Board utilized its erroneous finding to then conclude that it was not foreseeable that Original Roofing's **newly-hired** Foreman in this 2015 inspection would fail to enforce its safety standards. 1 AA 116:17-23; 1 AA128:5-17. **As such, the Review Board's conclusion regarding foreseeability is** *not* **supported by substantial evidence and not entitled to deference.**

Furthermore, the Review Board acted in an arbitrary and capricious manner and abused its discretion because it effectively ignored the uncontested evidence regarding Original Roofing's history of incidents involving foremen failing to follow and enforce fall protection standards, by stating that Nevada OSHA "offered no evidence".

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